1956

Robert L. Heywood v. The Denver and Rio Grande Western Railroad Co. : Brief of Appellant

Utah Supreme Court

STATEMENT OF THE CASE

Plaintiff, Robert L. Heywood, commenced this suit in the District Court of Salt Lake County on December 11, 1954, to recover for injuries sustained in The Denver and Rio Grande Western Railroad Company's blacksmith shop at Salt Lake City, Utah, on November 23, 1953. The complaint alleges a cause of action under the Federal Employers' Liability Act grounded on alleged negligent failure of defendant to furnish plaintiff a reasonably safe place to

work and other specific acts and omissions of negligence. The defendant's answer denies negligence and affirmatively alleges that plaintiff's accident and injuries were caused by his own negligence.

The case came on for trial before the Honorable David T. Lewis on January 23, 1956, sitting with a jury. A jury verdict was returned on January 24, 1956, in favor of plaintiff and against defendant assessing damages in the total amount of \$13,000.00. The trial court denied a motion by defendant for a directed verdict. Judgment was entered on the verdict on January 25, 1956.

Thereafter, defendant made a motion for a new trial on the grounds, among others, of errors in law committed by the court in its instructions to the jury. Said motion was heard and argued on May 13, 1956. The trial court denied said motion.

Whereupon, defendant commenced this appeal assigning as error the following:

1. Denial of defendant's motion for directed verdict.
2. Error in the trial court's instructions to the jury including denial of certain of defendant's requested instructions.

STATEMENT OF FACTS

The plaintiff, Robert L. Heywood, was 63 years of age at the time of trial. His lifetime occupation was that of a railroad machinist (R. 13). He had worked for The Denver and Rio Grande Western Railroad Company as a machinist since November 2, 1922. His duties as a machinist con-

sisted of repair and maintenance of machines and equipment including work in the railroad blacksmith shop. He was generally familiar with the blacksmith shop and had worked in it since 1922 (R. 14). He styled himself a "trouble shooter." He testified that the work of a trouble shooter was to repair any machine used by the railroad whether it be a steam hammer or truck or whatever else it might be (R. 15). Part of his duties consisted of determining the cause of trouble and correcting the same (R. 43, 44). Mr. Heywood was a senior mechanic at the time of his accident (R. 57). He testified that he knew of no one more experienced than himself in working with equipment nor more qualified to inspect the type of equipment involved in his accident (R. 57, 58). He had replaced packing in the stuffing boxes on hammers on numerous occasions (R. 29). He had worked on the stuffing box involved in this accident four or five times before the accident (R. 131).

Plaintiff's accident occurred in defendant's blacksmith shop at the site of what is known as the single arch steam hammer at approximately 11:45 a. m., November 23, 1953 (R. 2, 16). The blacksmith shop is a large, high ceiling building used to house hammers and other blacksmith equipment utilized in maintenance repair work. It is located approximately 750 feet from the railroad boiler room (R. 19, 20).

The single arch hammer involved in the accident is shown in Exhibits 1, 2 and 3. These exhibits were identified by plaintiff (R. 16). The single arch hammer is a large piece of equipment used to fashion large pieces of metal taken from the forges. The hammer is located on a

cement slab in the blacksmith shop. The part of the hammer upon which the metal is placed is known as the die (R. 18). Metal is placed on the die with tongs. Operation of the hammer is controlled by two levers. One lever controls the stroke and the other lever controls the steam. The hammer is powered by steam (R. 18).

Steam is made in the power house located about one block from the blacksmith shop. There are three steam boilers in the power house (R. 19). A main steam line runs from the boilers in the power house to various localities, one of which is the blacksmith shop (R. 19, 20). A system of three-inch standard pipes are used to carry the steam.

A main steam line runs from the power house into the blacksmith shop and along the ceiling of the blacksmith shop to the center thereof. A feeder line extends from the center of the blacksmith shop to the single arch hammer. An intermediate shutoff valve is located at the center of the blacksmith shop and controls the supply of steam to the hammer (R. 93). Another shutoff valve is located about two feet from the hammer (R. 94).

Exhibits 1, 2 and 3 show the end of the steam pipe connecting with the single arch hammer.

The steam pipe (from the point of supply) connects with the single arch hammer at a point approximately 12 feet from the ground (R. 21). The connection is enclosed in a stuffing box. The stuffing box is approximately two feet from the closest shutoff valve (R. 21). The stuffing box is used because of vibration. A rigid connection between the steam line and the machine would be impractic-

able because of vibration. The purpose of the stuffing box is to provide a flexible joint (R. 21). The steam pipe leading into the stuffing box (from the point of supply) has a collar or flange on the end. Asbestos hemp packing is placed upon and around the collar and held tight by a gland to prevent steam leaking (R. 21). Exhibit 4 was identified at the time of trial and admitted in evidence as a model of a stuffing box and the pipe leading into it (R. 24). The gland fits around the pipe and is attached and held in place by four bolts (R. 25). The asbestos hemp packing has to be replaced from time to time as it deteriorates with use (R. 26).

The evidence was uncontradicted that the end of the pipe with the collar leading into the stuffing box could not come out of the attached gland without the collar breaking (R. 30, 32, 68). A break in the collar could not be detected by looking at the pipe from outside of the stuffing box (R. 84, 113). The stuffing box concealed the collar. A break at the joint of the collar could not be detected except by removing the pipe leading into the stuffing box (from the source of supply) (R. 69, 70, 78, 138).

With this setting in mind, we turn to the facts surrounding the accident.

On the morning of the accident, Mr. Lewis Morgan Griffiths, a blacksmith in defendant's shop, had been working on the single arch hammer. He discovered that there was a steam leak in the hammer and reported it to Mr. Paul Schenk, the foreman (R. 87, 150). Mr. Schenk notified the plaintiff to repair the leak (R. 150, 15). According

to plaintiff, Mr. Schenk told him to go out and fix the leak on the hammer (R. 16). Plaintiff commenced work on the hammer at approximately 10:30 a. m. (R. 47). Plaintiff had a helper to assist him in doing whatever was necessary in the course of his work (R. 47, 48). There were other men to help if help was needed (R. 48). There were also four pipe fitters available on the day of the accident to help if needed (R. 109). Plaintiff had a $\frac{7}{8}$ -inch S wrench and a 14-inch Stillson wrench with him. There were ladders, scaffolds and other equipment available in the shop to do the work (R. 49).

When plaintiff approached the stuffing box on the single arch hammer, he observed that it was leaking so badly that new packing would be required (R. 26). Plaintiff turned off the valve closest to the machine (R. 27). He took the gland off the stuffing box and slid it back onto the pipe. He took out one ring of the packing and discovered the size packing required. Mr. Schenk was not in the blacksmith shop at that time (R. 27). After some delay, plaintiff found the packing he needed and returned to the hammer (R. 28). He placed the new packing in the stuffing box, replaced the gland and tightened the gland to what he thought was the proper tension. He was standing on a ladder about six feet from the ground. He then turned on the valve letting steam through the line (R. 29). As he started down the ladder, the steam pipe going into the stuffing box blew out and hit him on the left hand. The pipe came out of the stuffing box. Plaintiff fell and hit the floor. He was standing when he landed with the weight on his left leg (R. 30). Other workmen came to

his assistance. He did not have an opportunity thereafter to examine the stuffing box or the pipe (R. 31).

On cross-examination plaintiff admitted that one of his duties was to inspect the work to see if it was done satisfactorily (R. 43, 44). He admitted that part of his job was to determine the trouble and to correct it (R. 44). He admitted that he made no effort to ascertain if the collar on the pipe was broken (R. 45, 46, 47, 55, 58). He didn't know whether the collar was broken or not (R. 37). He made no examination to see the condition of the collar before he tightened the gland (R. 68).

Plaintiff denied any knowledge of the existence or function of the intermediate valve (R. 50, 51, 52). He admitted that he had tried to tighten the gland and had tightened it all the way without success (R. 54, 55). He admitted that there was no better opportunity to inspect the equipment than when same was dismantled and that he had not made an inspection at that time (R. 56). He admitted that he had not asked any one to make an inspection at the time the stuffing box was dismantled (R. 56). He did not arrange to have a pipe fitter take the pipe off and inspect it (R. 84). He testified that it was not too big a job to dismantle the pipe (R. 84). He admitted that steam fitters were not so far away that one could not be obtained (R. 84). He admitted that if he saw something requiring a steam fitter that he could call his supervisor (R. 85). He admitted that he never went to the supervisor on this occasion to tell him to have a steam fitter examine the pipe, although on other occasions he had done so (R. 85).

There was no evidence offered or received that anyone other than plaintiff ever went up to the stuffing box and examined the condition. Presumably plaintiff was in a better position than anyone else to determine the trouble and decide what work should be done and what assistance obtained.

One of defendant's witnesses, Mr. Paul Schenk, foreman, testified that it was the machinist's job in the first instance to inspect the machine to see what had to be done (R. 151, 157). This testimony was not disputed by plaintiff despite the fact that plaintiff was recalled after Mr. Schenk testified. There was no evidence of any custom or practice for a steam fitter to precede a machinist in an examination of equipment nor for a steam fitter to accompany a machinist to the work.

One of the witnesses called by defendant was James Everett Aberton, Division Locomotive Foreman (R. 135, 136). Mr. Aberton arrived at the scene of the accident shortly thereafter. He examined the pipe and collar involved in the accident. At the trial he identified Exhibit 6 as the pipe and collar involved in the accident (R. 136, 137). Mr. Aberton found that there was an old break between the collar and the pipe all the way around the pipe except for approximately $\frac{3}{8}$ -inch (R. 37). He was able to determine that the break was old because of discoloration (R. 156). He stated that it was his opinion that there was just a thread holding the pipe to the collar at the time Mr. Heywood was performing his work (R. 137, 138). He stated that the break in the collar would account for the steam leak (R. 138, 139). He testified that the stress

exerted by tightening the gland might be sufficient to break the remaining portion of the pipe from the collar (R. 142).

Plaintiff called witness Joseph L. Crowton. Mr. Crowton was an experienced sheet metal worker and pipe fitter (R. 100, 101). Mr. Crowton examined Exhibit 6, the pipe and collar, at the time of trial. He testified that he had seen the pipe on the single arch hammer a good many times (R. 111). He testified that from his experience he could look at the break between the collar and pipe and determine whether it was a fresh or old break because of rust. He testified that the break appeared to him to be of old duration except for a distance of approximately $\frac{5}{8}$ -inch. This was based on the rust which appeared on the break (R. 111). Mr. Crowton testified that little pressure would be required to separate the collar from the pipe with such a large break (R. 113).

STATEMENT OF POINTS

POINT I.

THE TRIAL COURT COMMITTED PREJUDICIAL ERROR IN ITS INSTRUCTION NO. 6 WHICH IMPOSED ABSOLUTE LIABILITY ON DEFENDANT.

POINT II.

THE TRIAL COURT COMMITTED PREJUDICIAL ERROR IN ITS INSTRUCTION NO. 7 WHICH INSTRUCTED THE JURY ON A THEORY CONTRARY TO AND NOT SUPPORTED BY THE EVIDENCE.

POINT III.

THE TRIAL COURT COMMITTED PREJUDICIAL ERROR IN ITS INSTRUCTION NO. 8 WHICH INSTRUCTED THE JURY ON A THEORY NOT SUPPORTED BY THE EVIDENCE.

POINT IV.

THE TRIAL COURT COMMITTED PREJUDICIAL ERROR IN ITS REFUSAL AND FAILURE TO GIVE DEFENDANT'S REQUESTED INSTRUCTIONS NOS. 1, 8 AND 11 OR SOME INSTRUCTION SETTING FORTH IN FULL THE THEORIES CONTAINED THEREIN.

POINT V.

THE TRIAL COURT COMMITTED PREJUDICIAL ERROR IN FAILING AND REFUSING TO GIVE DEFENDANT'S REQUESTED INSTRUCTION NO. 6 OR SOME OTHER INSTRUCTION INCORPORATING THE THEORY CONTAINED THEREIN.

POINT VI.

THE TRIAL COURT COMMITTED PREJUDICIAL ERROR IN FAILING AND REFUSING TO GIVE DEFENDANT'S REQUESTED INSTRUCTION NO. 2.

POINT VII.

THE TRIAL COURT ERRED IN DENYING DEFENDANT'S MOTION FOR A DIRECTED VERDICT; THE EVIDENCE COMPELS THE CONCLUSION THAT PLAINTIFF WAS NEGLIGENT AS A MATTER OF LAW AND THAT HIS NEGLIGENCE WAS THE SOLE PROXIMATE CAUSE OF HIS ACCIDENT AND INJURIES.

ARGUMENT

POINT I.

THE TRIAL COURT COMMITTED PREJUDICIAL ERROR IN ITS INSTRUCTION NO. 6 WHICH IMPOSED ABSOLUTE LIABILITY ON DEFENDANT.

Instruction Number Six reads as follows:

"It is the duty of the defendant railroad company to exercise reasonable care to provide its employees with a reasonably safe place to work. This duty does not require the absolute elimination of all danger, but it does require the elimination of all dangers which the exercise of reasonable care by the defendant railroad company would remove or guard against.

"In this connection *you are instructed that if you shall find from a preponderance of the evidence that plaintiff at the time of his injury was performing the duties of his employment and that the defendant failed to exercise reasonable care to make said place reasonably safe for the performance of*

such duties *in that* the position of the plaintiff in connection with his duties and the operation of appliances used in the performance of his duties were such that the *plaintiff was not performing his duties in a place of reasonable safety, then you are instructed that you may find the defendant negligent in such regard*; and if you further find from a preponderance of the evidence that such negligence on the part of the defendant, if any, proximately caused in whole or in part injuries to plaintiff, then you should return a verdict in favor of plaintiff and against the defendant and award to plaintiff damages as in these instructions set forth.” (Emphasis Added.)

This instruction must be considered in light of the well-settled principles establishing a railroad’s duty under the Federal Employers’ Liability Act. Liability under the Act is predicated upon common law negligence. As stated by this court in the recent decision, *Clifton M. Bowden v. The Denver & Rio Grande Western Railroad Company*, 3 Utah 2d 444, 286 P. 2d 240:

“* * * We recognized then, and do now, that ‘the Federal Act does not make the railroad an (absolute) insurer * * * the Act imposes liability for negligent injuries. * * *’ The test to be applied in determining negligence is that of reasonable care. * * * We also expressly recognized therein the necessity of actual or constructive knowledge, stating at page 334 of 233 P. 2d that a defendant employer ‘is charged with responsibility for conditions of danger * * * of which it either has actual knowledge or is charged with constructive knowledge. * * *’”

And in *Lasagna v. McCarthy*, 111 Utah 269, 177 P. 2d 734, 741, this court said:

“A recent case in point is that of *McGivern v. Northern Pac. Ry. Co.*, 132 F. 2d 213, at page 217, wherein the 8th Circuit Court of Appeals stated the rule in these words: ‘* * * The duty of providing a reasonably safe place in which to work and reasonably safe appliances with which to work while a continuing one does not obligate the employer to keep the place of work safe at every moment where such safety may depend on the due performance of work by the servant and his fellow workmen. *Kreigh v. Westinghouse C., K. & Co.*, 214 U. S. 249, 29 S. Ct. 619, 53 L. Ed. 984. In fact the rule is held not to be applicable where the workmen in the progress of their work render the place unsafe. *Torgerson v. Minneapolis, St. P. & S. (S.) M. Ry. Co.*, 49 N. D. 1096, 194 N. W. 741; *Cartwright v. Atchison, T. & S. F. Ry. Co.*, 8 Cir., 228 F. 872. Temporary conditions created by employees using or failing to use appliances furnished by the employer are not defects for which the employer may be held responsible in damages * * *.’ For additional authority on this point, see *Morgan Construction Co. v. Frank*, 6 Cir., 158 F. 964; and *Medina Valley Irrigation Co. v. Espino*, 5 Cir., 214 F. 732.

“Negligence of the employer being the basis for recovery under the Federal Employers’ Liability Act, it is well to return to the ordinary definition of the term, which is (the omission to do something which a reasonable person guided by those considerations which ordinarily regulate the conduct of human affairs, would do; or the doing of something which a prudent person under like circumstances would not do. Viewing the appellants’ conduct in the light of this rule, we are unable to find anything in this

record which in any way indicates that they omitted to do that which they should have done; or that they did that which they ought not to have done."

It is thus settled that to render an employer liable it must be made to appear by the evidence that the employer knew or in the exercise of reasonable care should have known of an unsafe condition and knew or should have known that the condition exposed its employees to an unreasonable risk of harm. It is fundamental to common law negligence, that not every risk of harm gives rise to liability; the risk must be unreasonable when viewed in light of all circumstances.

The material facts which bear upon this point are as follows: Plaintiff was, according to his own testimony, an experienced machinist, having worked in the defendant's machine shop since 1922. He was a "trouble shooter." He knew when sent to perform the tasks out of which his accident arose that there was a leak in the steam pipe which required repairs. The manner of making repairs was left to his discretion. Plaintiff had full discretion to select tools and equipment. Ladders and scaffolds were readily available. Plaintiff's accident and injuries were caused by an old break in the collar of a steam pipe. At all times prior to the accident the said collar on the pipe was concealed by a stuffing box which housed the collar connection. Both plaintiff's witness and defendant's witness testified that the break in the collar appeared of old duration. The break in the pipe was one which could not have been detected without removing the pipe. The break was not known to or detected by plaintiff in the course of

his work. (Statement of Facts.) If there was anything unsafe about plaintiff's place of work it was the condition of said pipe.

It is the defendant's contentions that under these circumstances defendant would not be liable to plaintiff unless defendant knew or in the exercise of reasonable care should have known of the unsafe condition and knew or in the exercise of reasonable care should have known that plaintiff was being exposed to an unreasonable risk of harm. Further, as stated in the *Lasagna* and *McGivern* decisions, *supra*, the defendant would not be liable for temporary conditions created by plaintiff using or failing to use appliances furnished by defendant.

Instruction Number 6 is, considered in its best light, an ambiguous and confusing instruction. The opening paragraph of the instruction states an abstract proposition of law. The second paragraph requires a grammatical diagram to ascertain its meaning. If any sensible meaning can be given said paragraph, it is as follows:

"If plaintiff was performing his duties and defendant failed to exercise reasonable care *in that* the position of plaintiff was such that plaintiff was not in a place of reasonable safety then defendant was negligent."

It is the appellant's contention that the underlined words "*in that*" qualify and restrict the meaning of the preceding parts of the instruction. The same words have been so construed in the following decisions:

Frace v. Long Beach City High School, 58 C. A. 2d 566, 137 P. 2d 60.

Textile Work v. Richards, 245 Ala. 37, 15 S. 2d 578.

As stated by this court in *University of Utah v. Richards*, 20 Utah 457, 59 Pac. 96 in construing a Statute:

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