1956

Robert L. Heywood v. The Denver and Rio Grande Western Railroad Co. : Brief of Respondent

Utah Supreme Court

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

“Q. And do you have a custom and rule which requires that steamfitters turn the steam off at a major valve like that prior to the time that they work on a piece of equipment like this where it's going to be shut down for some time?

A. Well, that work of turning the steam in your steamfitting and so on is generally considered pipefitter's work.

Q. And is it usual for the pipefitters to turn the steam off or have it turned off when work like this is done?

A. Yes.” (R. 93)

Aberton testified to the same effect.

“A. The practice is to turn off the intermediate valve before you make any repairs on the stuffing box at these hammers.” (R. 138)

Schenk also testified to the same effect.

“A. I notify the machinist to make a repair, and then the practice is, when the machinist goes out there, when he is free to go out there and do the job, he notifies me about it, *and I get a pipefitter to prepare the work.* We have an intermediate valve which is shut off — necessary to shut this off, so the man can work with security on the job. *That is considered a pipefitter's job, and we — I instruct the pipefitter to shut that valve off.*” (R. 150).

In this connection we again call attention to the fact that Schenk was present when the work commenced and made no effort to have a pipefitter turn off the **intermediate valve**. He should have known the intermediate valve was not turned off because it would only be turned off pursuant to his orders.

Heywood was unaware of the existence of the intermediate valve (R. 51).

It is true Crowton was of the opinion that the valve next to the hammer would be the proper one to shut off in making a repair such as was being made by plaintiff. This did not eliminate the testimony concerning the custom and practice of turning off the intermediate valve when work such as that being done by plaintiff was anticipated.

Plaintiff is not bound by each and every item of testimony by each and every witness called on his behalf.

In *Schlatter v. McCarthy* (1948) 113 Utah 543, 196 P. (2) 968, this court stated:

“But a party is not bound by every statement that his witness makes, and he may, by testimony of other witnesses and in argument to the jury, show that the facts were different from those testified to by the witness. This is permitted, not for the purpose of impeaching the witness (although it may have that incidental effect), but for establishing the true facts. It would be a monstrous rule that would bind a party to every statement of every witness produced by him.”

The cases cited by defendant are not in point in view of the fact plaintiff did not testify that no custom and practice of turning off the intermediate valve existed, but only that he was unaware of the existence of the valve.

POINT III

THE EVIDENCE SUPPORTS SUBMISSION OF INSTRUCTION NO. 8 TO THE JURY.

The evidence supporting submission of Instruction No. 8 is briefly this. A steam leak was discovered on the morning of the occurrence by Griffiths (R. 87). Griffiths promptly notified foreman Schenk of the leak (R. 87). Schenk inspected the single arch hammer so he could “notify the man about going out and making repairs.” He testified:

“Q. That was so you could determine whether or not to send a pipefitter out, or just a machinist, isn’t that right?

A. In a way, yes." (R. 154).

The leak could have been caused either by a crack in the piping itself or by loose packing. The only way to determine which of these causes actually existed was to dismantle the pipe. This was a pipefitter's and not a machinists job. Schenk decided not to have the pipefitter dismantle the pipe, but to take a chance and replace the packing in the hopes that the packing was the cause of the leak. This was Schenk's decision. Even after Heywood had commenced the work of replacing the packing, Schenk returned to the hammer and gave him a piece of packing which turned out to be the wrong type. At that time Schenk did not suggest that the pipe be removed and inspected. He was content to have Heywood go ahead with the replacement of the packing. Under these circumstances, it became a jury question whether the railroad should have made the inspection which would have revealed the cause of the leak. The following authorities support the giving of Instruction No. 7:

Solomon R. Co. v. Jones, 30 Kan. 601, 2 P. 657; *In re California Nav. & Imp. Co.*, 110 Fed. 670; *Port of New York Steredoring Corporation v. Castagna*, 280 Fed. 618; *Allen v. Union Pacific R. Co.*, 7 Utah 239, 26 P. 297; *Brown v. Sharphouse Contracting Co.*, 159 Cal. 89, 112 P. 874; *Corn Products Refining Co. v. King*, 168 Fed. 892; *New Deemer Mfg. Co. v. Wells*, 296 Fed. 687.

It is interesting to note that defendant cites no authorities to support its claim that Instruction No. 8 should not have been submitted to the jury.

POINT IV

THE TRIAL COURT DID NOT COMMIT PREJUDICIAL ERROR BY REFUSING TO GIVE DEFENDANT'S REQUESTED INSTRUCTIONS NO. 1, 8 AND 11.

In Point IV of its brief, defendant expresses dissatisfaction with the court's instructions No. 9 and 10 on the issue of contributory negligence. Defendant is not in a position to complain about these instructions since it requested they be given and took no exception to them.

Defendant claims its requested instructions No. 1, 8 and 11 should have been given. Before considering said requests separately we desire to answer some of the general contentions made by defendant in its hodge podge point.

In criticizing the Court's instructions No. 9 and 10, defendant states at page 37 of its brief:

"Neither of said instructions charges the jury on the theory that plaintiff had a duty to request and arrange for a pipefitter to inspect the pipe and to remove the pipe."

It is our position that plaintiff was under no duty to overrule foreman Schenk's decision not to have a pipefitter remove and inspect the pipe. It is our further position that nevertheless Instruction No. 10 includes the proposition contended for by defendant. Instruction No. 10 reads in part as follows:

"If you find from a preponderance of the evidence that the plaintiff in performing the duties of his employment, and in the exercise of due care for his own safety, *should have dis-*

covered the defect in the steam pipe and failed so to do, then you may find that the plaintiff was negligent, etc."

Plaintiff couldn't remove the pipe because this was not a machinist's job. The only way he could have discovered the defect was to request that a pipefitter remove the pipe for an inspection. The jury was told by Instruction No. 10 that they could find plaintiff guilty of contributory negligence for his failure to make such a request. It is a well known principle of law that if a proposition contained in a requested instruction is adequately instructed upon by the court in another instruction, there is no error in refusal to give such a request. See *Joice v. Missouri-Kansas-Texas R. Co.* (Missouri 1945) 189 S.W. 2d 568, 161 ALR 383.

Defendant's requested Instruction No. 1 requires only a finding that a safe and a dangerous way of performing the work existed and were equally open to the plaintiff and that he selected the unsafe way, as a basis for negligence on his part as a matter of law. Whether plaintiff was aware of the safe way of performing the work becomes immaterial under the instruction. No requirement that plaintiff did not act as a reasonably prudent person under the circumstances is imposed by the instruction. If he selected a dangerous way and a safe way was open to him, then he is negligent. The jury is further authorized to find that such negligence was the sole proximate cause of his injury.

A party may select a dangerous way as distinguished from a safe way of doing work but, neverthe-

less, have acted as a reasonably prudent person under the circumstances. *Kaumans v. White Star Gas & Oil Co.*, 92 Utah 24, 32, 63 P. 2d 231; *Moore v. Miles*, 108 Utah 167, 158 P. 2d 676.

A moment's consideration will reveal that for a workman to choose a less safe course of doing his work cannot be contributory negligence as a matter of law. The fundamental rule of contributory negligence is that a person must use the care that a reasonably prudent person would use in looking out for his own safety. There are, of course, situations in which the conduct of an injured person may be such that all reasonable minds would agree that he did not use such care. In that event, he would be guilty of contributory negligence as a matter of law. However, the choosing of a way less safe than another does not require a finding of contributory negligence for the simple reason that a reasonably prudent person may have chosen a less safe way. This is particularly true under the facts of the case at bar where plaintiff testified that he was unaware of the existence of the intermediate valve. This proposition of law is clearly pointed out in *Bailey v. Prime Western Spelter Co.*, 83 Kan. 230, 109 P. 791 (1910); See also *Brinkmeier v. Missouri Pacific Ry. Co.*, 69 Kan. 738, 77 P. 586.

Futhermore, defendant's requested Instruction No. 1 allowed the jury to find that plaintiff's negligence in failing to select the safe way as distinguished from the dangerous way, was the sole proximate cause of his injury. Under the facts of the case at bar this would

have been error. See *Thomson vs. Boles*, 123 F. (2d) 487, 492 (8 C.C.A. 1941).

The trial court's Instruction No. 9 left it for the jury to consider under general standards of reasonable care whether plaintiff was contributorily negligent in not shutting off the intermediate valve and allowed the jury to determine not only that such was negligence on the part of plaintiff but that it was the sole proximate cause of his injury. This instruction allowed defendant full leeway in arguing contributory negligence to the jury and, in fact submitted correctly the issue undertaken to be submitted by defendant's requested Instruction No. 1. Instruction No. 9 was and is a correct statement of the law and eliminates the erroneous propositions heretofore pointed out that are present in defendant's requested Instruction No. 1.

Likewise defendant's requested Instruction No. 3 is erroneous. In the first paragraph of the instruction it is stated categorically that Heywood had the duty of exercising reasonable care "in arranging for the shut-off of the master steam valve in the shop." Plaintiff testified that he wasn't aware of the existence of such a steam valve in the shop. He was entitled to belief by the jury on this issue. If he didn't know of the existence of the steam valve, certainly he was under no legal duty to arrange to have it shut off. Yet, requested Instruction No. 8 imposed such a duty upon him as a matter of law. Clearly the instruction would have been erroneous if given.

Defendant's requested Instruction No. 11 is likewise erroneous. Said instruction reads in part ". . . if you find by a preponderance of the evidence that the plaintiff negligently failed to detect a rusted and corroded condition in the steam pipe, etc. . . ." Said instruction declares as a matter of law that plaintiff had the duty of endeavoring to detect the rusted and corroded condition of the steam pipe and then goes on to submit to the jury the question of whether plaintiff was negligent in performance of said duty. Under the evidence most favorable to plaintiff, the jury could find that plaintiff had no duty of inspecting the pipe; that instructions concerning dismantling of the pipe would have to come from the foreman, and the work of dismantling the pipe would have to be done by a pipefitter rather than by plaintiff. This instruction would clearly have been error.

As heretofore pointed out the issue was in fact submitted to the jury by Instruction No. 10 which allowed the jury to find that in the exercise of ordinary care plaintiff should have discovered the defect in the pipe.

POINT V

THE TRIAL COURT DID NOT COMMIT PREJUDICIAL ERROR BY REFUSING TO GIVE DEFENDANT'S REQUESTED INSTRUCTION NO. 6.

The issue of safe place to work was adequately and correctly instructed upon in the court's Instruction No. 6 and the other instructions enumerated and dis-

cussed in this brief under Point I.

It is our position that defendant's requested instruction No. 6 would have contributed nothing substantial to the court's instructions. This can best be pointed out by considering each of the elements required by the request.

The first element requires a finding that defendant knew or should have known of an unsafe condition or defective equipment. As pointed out by us in Point I, the extent and nature of the knowledge possessed by defendant railroad company was not an issue in the case. The railroad company knew of the leak, was aware of the fact that an external inspection would not reveal the cause of the leak and that in order to discover whether loose packing or a break in the pipe was causing the leak, the pipe would have to be dismantled. It is undisputed that removal and inspection of the pipe would have revealed the cause of the leak. The facts being undisputed the question to be resolved by the jury was whether in view of such facts the railroad company by directing plaintiff to remove and replace the packing, exercised ordinary care in furnishing him with a reasonably safe place in which to work. Defendant's requested instruction No. 6 would have submitted to the jury issues that were not in dispute. Consequently, the manner adopted by the trial court in submitting the issue of safe place to work to the jury was less apt to be misunderstood by the jury than would have been defendant's requested instruction No. 6. We have heretofore distinguished the Horton, Dixon, Hatfield, Burks and Stevens cases. Those cases contained mandatory instructions re-

moving from the jury the issue of whether defendant had exercised reasonable care in furnishing a reasonably safe place to work.

The second element in defendant's requested instruction No. 6 that the railroad before being liable should in the exercise of reasonable care have known that the unsafe condition gave rise to an unreasonable risk of harm, is included in instruction No. 6 where the Court requires as a condition to recovery that "Defendant failed to exercise reasonable care to make said place reasonably safe for the performance of such duties in that the position of the plaintiff in connection with his duties and the operation of appliances used in the performance of his duties, were such that the plaintiff was not performing his duties in a place of reasonable safety, etc." If the jury found, as it must, in order to allow recovery for plaintiff, that he was not in a position of reasonable safety, then of course, the jury was finding that he was subjected to an unreasonable risk of harm. These are merely two different ways of stating the same thing.

The third sub-section of requested instruction No. 6 requires that the railroad had a "sufficient period of time within which to correct said unsafe condition, etc." Under the undisputed facts of the case the leak was discovered and reported to Schenk. He it was who decided whether to have a machinist replace the packing or a pipefitter remove and inspect the piping. The time element was not an issue. The issue had to do with the decision made by Schenk at the time he inspected the leak. The railroad

had sufficient time to correct the unsafe condition simply by sending a pipefitter to remove the pipe and inspect it. The railroad didn't do this. The length of time had by the railroad within which to correct the unsafe condition was not a disputed issue. Also to permit recovery only in the event defendant did not have time to fix the pipe would eliminate recovery for negligence in permitting plaintiff to work there after defendant had discovered the dangerous condition. It should not only fix the condition but until fixed should take steps to protect persons from the danger.

The fourth requirement of the requested instruction that the unsafe condition was a proximate cause of plaintiff's injuries, of course, was submitted correctly in the court's Instruction No. 6.

The trial court did not commit error in refusing to give said instruction.

POINT VI

THE TRIAL COURT DID NOT COMMIT PREJUDICIAL ERROR BY REFUSING TO GIVE DEFENDANT'S REQUESTED INSTRUCTION NO. 2.

Defendant's requested Instruction No. 2 is set forth as follows for the convenience of the Court:

"You are instructed that a Railroad Company is not required to adopt extraordinary or unreasonable tests or examinations to discover defects in machinery, but fulfills its duty if it adopts such tests and examination procedure as are ordinarily used by prudently conducted Railroads under like circumstances."

Plaintiff made no contention that the railroad company was required to adopt extraordinary or unreasonable tests or examinations to discover defects in machinery. Under *Moore v. Denver & Rio Grande Western Railroad Company*, 4 Utah 2d 255, 292 P. 2d 849 (1956) extraneous issues not raised by the pleadings or by the parties should not be submitted to the jury. See also *Pollard v. Gammon* (Ga. 1940), 63 Ga. App. 852, 12 S.E. 2d 624.

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